


ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY  
Winton Wetlands Committee of 
Management recognises that the site  
lies within the traditional lands of the  
Yorta Yorta people, the original owners  
of Country. 

We respect their deep enduring connection 
to their lands and waterways and recognise 
that sovereignty was never ceded.

We honour and respect their ancestors, 
their Elders past, present and emerging  
and acknowledge the significant role  
Yorta Yorta people play in support of the 
Winton Wetlands restoration project and  
of our programs.
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Continuing 
involvement with 
universities, schools 
and kindergartens 
in the face of 
COVID-19 pandemic 
restrictions

Continuing high 
level engagement 
with national and 
international research 
and land management 
communities

Winton Wetlands 
noted as a Wetland of 
Distinction by Society  
of Wetland Scientists

‘Highly Commended’ 
at the Society of 
Environmental 
Restoration Australasia 
Conference Awards 2021

Breeding programs for 
growling grass frog and 
longneck turtle under 
development, following 
funding success

New reptile 
species not 
previously  
found2

Frog  
species 
identified4

Different  
reptile species 
recorded12

Success achieved  
with revegetation 
activities, in partnership 
with Regent Honeyeater 
Program

Improving bird 
populations  - 
both in numbers 
and variety

Bird species  
recorded on-site  
in 2020/21168

Bird species  
not previously  
recorded6 Work under way  

on an innovative  
large-scale outdoor  
Art Trail

Solar farm  
plans drawn up to 
achieve energy  
self-sufficiency on-site

New funding  
sources secured: 
Commonwealth 
Government  
(Community Environment 
Program), Victorian 
Government, Wettenhall 
Trust, Ross Trust 
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Restoration of Winton Wetlands is a project of 
ambitious scale. It is the largest wetland restoration 
project in the southern hemisphere with long-term 
horizons and aims to earn its place as a landmark 
site for sustainable ecological, scientific and 
cultural achievement. 

With such extensive scope, it can be difficult to 
discern tangible progress and this makes it all 
the more heartening to reflect on an annual basis 
and take stock of what has been achieved. During 
2020-21 important progress has been made toward 
several longer-term objectives.

Population studies showed increased native reptile 
populations across the Winton Wetlands reserve, 
including two species not previously recorded 
(Grey’s Skink and Dwyer’s Snake). We continued 
in our bid to re-introduce the growling grass frog, 
an important native species, boosted by success 
in obtaining $51,000 of new funding from the 
Ross Trust and the Wettenhall Environment Trust. 
This funding will enable the project to move 
from feasibility studies towards implementation. 
There are positive indications of increased bird 
populations both in total numbers and in the range 
of species.

The installation of a collection of major new outdoor 
artworks is near completion and we will shortly 
launch a Yorta Yorta art trail on-site featuring the 
work of renowned local indigenous artists.

Winton Wetlands has become one of the Society 
of Wetland Scientists’ newest Wetlands of 
Distinction. As the first wetland to be nominated by 
the Society’s listings beyond the United States of 
America, this recognition places Winton Wetlands 
on the international stage. [See inside the report for 
more about this exciting recognition.]

CHAIR’S REPORT

These achievements have been made during a 
period of great uncertainty which forced regular 
closure of the reserve, including the café and visitor 
hub, to members of the public during lockdown 
periods. Our annual Science Forum, usually held on 
site to review developments relating to wetlands 
restoration and management, was postponed 
to March 2022. Limitations to the movement of 
staff and volunteers on site during lockdown 
has dramatically curtailed our ability to conduct 
important monitoring and maintenance.

In my time as Chair of the Committee of 
Management, I’ve been heartened to see 
momentum building in our relationships with local 
communities including the Yorta Yorta people, our 
immediate landholder neighbours in Winton and 
Chesney Vale, a growing range of valued partner 
organisations and our ever-increasing numbers of 
engaged visitors across Victoria, Australia  
and beyond.

The Committee of Management is committed to 
ensuring Winton Wetlands operates as effectively 
and efficiently as possible and during 2020-21 
made the significant decision to streamline our 
membership from seven to three. Our mission is 
not just to succeed in environmental, scientific and 
cultural terms, but to demonstrate that this kind 
of stewardship can be achieved in ways that are 
financially prudent. We continue to set our course 
with this in mind.

I have been part of the Committee of Management 
since 2012, not long after this project was first 
established, and Chair since 2014. It has been an 
honour to help guide such an important initiative. 

Dr Dennis O’Brien 
Chair, Committee of Management
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As Winton Wetlands enters its second decade under the current model of operation, signs are emerging of its 
potential to become a major Australian hub for regional environmental projects.

Winton Wetlands is proud to partner with the Yorta Yorta Nation in strengthening the appreciation of first nations 
culture along with the more recent history of migration and settlement of inland Australia.

NEW DECADE 
NEW PROGRESS

Impact of COVID-19
In a year marked by pandemic conditions that 
saw the reserve closed to members of the 
public on multiple occasions, progress has 
been made on longer-term development work.
During periods of restricted operation we 
continued working to ensure activities would 
be conducted as cost-effectively as possible, 
reduce overheads, streamline operating 
systems and teams, and further develop 
financial self-sufficiency through generation 
of independent revenue, where feasible and 
appropriate.

> Increased native bird and wildlife populations, both 
in terms of numbers and diversity in some cases 

> Facilitation of revegetation works in key parts of 
the site undertaken in partnership with the Regent 
Honeyeater Project and our volunteers

> Strengthening networks with scientific and 
cultural groups in the planning of new projects

> A 12 kilometre cycle path which will enhance 
visitor access and complement the new Yorta 
Yorta art trail, school camping facility and 
landscape gardens due for completion  
in 2022 

The area now known as the Winton Wetlands 
Reserve was permanently inundated in 1970 by the 
construction of the Lake Mokoan storage reservoir, the 
purpose of which was to supply irrigation and stock 
and domestic water to the district. 

The Winton Wetlands Reserve is an 8,750-hectare 
wetland restoration site in north-east Victoria between 
the rural townships of Benalla and Glenrowan, 
bordered to the south by the Melbourne – Sydney 
railway line, to the west by the Lake Mokoan dam wall, 
to the north by Lake Mokoan Road and to the east by 
Glenrowan – Boweya Road. The area to the southeast 
of the reserve is private land. 

Part of the catchment for the Broken River, the reserve 
encompasses 33 ephemeral wetlands, and is an 
important site for regional biodiversity, hosting more 
than 30 endangered or vulnerable species of flora and 
fauna. The reserve is also home to several thousand 
hectares of box grassy woodland, an ecosystem which 
has been extensively cleared across inland Australia. 

The Yorta Yorta Nation (legally constituted into 
the Yorta Yorta Nation Aboriginal Corporation) are 
recognised as the traditional custodians of the land 
which is located on the borders between several 
language groups including Yorta Yorta, Pangerang, 
Taungurong and Waveroo.

The reserve was once part of Goomalibee Station, 
before land was subdivided into smaller farms  and 
land use on the reserve expanded to include cropping, 
livestock, viticulture and timber harvesting. In the 
late 1960s, surveyors identified the wetlands as a 
potential site for irrigation infrastructure and in 1970, 
a 7.5km long embankment was constructed along the 
western margin to establish the Lake Mokoan storage 
reservoir. With a full capacity of approximately 7800 
hectares, most of the reserve remained completely 

THE AREA  
UNDER REVIEW

or intermittently inundated by Lake Mokoan for 
several decades. The reservoir was slated for 
decommissioning in 2004 as part of the Our Water Our 
Future White Paper, following complications with algal 
blooms, water turbidity and high rates of evaporation. 
In 2009, the dam wall was breached, and in March 
2010 a Committee of Management was established 
under the Crown Land Reserves Act 1978 to oversee 
the ecological restoration of the wetlands.

More than a century of land clearing and inundation 
has drastically altered the ecology of the area that 
the reserve encompasses. Lake Mokoan inundated 
and affected the wetlands over an area of 5200ha 
including significant areas of Plains Swampy Woodland 
and Red Gum Swamp – dominated by River Red Gum 
(Eucalyptus camaldulensis). The redgums and other 
vegetation were drowned in the period 1970-2009, 
leaving little remnant vegetation or native seedbanks. 
Hydrology at a catchment level has also been altered, 
with some creek flow diverted into farm dams and 
drains, and the legacy impact of inundation from Lake 
Mokoan still uncertain. These factors necessitate a 
long-term vision for the restoration of the wetlands.

Ongoing efforts are being made to track movements 
in the populations of birds and animals in the reserve, 
and changes to plant life over time. This monitoring 
aims to help show the progress toward restoring the 
wetlands as much as possible to their original natural 
state as an ‘ephemeral wetland’  - that is, one which 
naturally enjoys wet and dry periods and regular 
changes to flora and fauna habitat in line with these 
natural cycles.

Some highlights of the key study activities undertaken 
in 2020-21 are outlined on the following pages.

> Growing interest from schools to bring groups on 
site for day trips and camps

> Positioning the reserve as a site for television, 
movie and other media production

> Encouraging and supporting the vital role played 
on site by our volunteer groups

> Strengthening university networks to enable more 
cross-fertilisation  of expert thinking

> Attracting new external funding projects to bring 
back or boost populations of iconic native species 
particularly two species strategically important to 
broader wetland restoration goals, growling grass 
frogs and long neck turtles.

In spite of the many challenges brought on by the Covid 19 pandemic, during 2020-21 we 
focused on achieving results in the following areas:

OUR TEAM
As Australia’s biggest wetland conservation 
and restoration project, Winton Wetlands 
is able to move forward only through the 
dedicated work and commitment of its small 
staff team, supported by specialist advisers 
and many volunteers who participate both 
as individuals and in groups, in activities 
including tourist information, walking 
guides, reptile surveys, bird counting, 
planting, maintenance and repairs, and other 
essential activities. We salute them all for 
their valuable contributions and resilience 
during 2020-21, a year which brought many 
operational challenges relating to the 
COVID-19 pandemic.
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BIRD NUMBERS  
TAKE FLIGHT

TOP 10  
ABUNDANT BIRDS 2020-21
Sulphur-crested Cockatoos and  
Grey Teal were the most abundant  
birds recorded in 2020/21.Since 2013, a dedicated volunteer group of 

birdwatchers known as Bird Life Murray Goulburn 
(BLMG) has undertaken quarterly bird surveys at 
11 or 12 sites with teams of 3-4 BLMG members at 
each site. The tables below summarise the four 
surveys undertaken in 2020-21.

Bird abundance by site > 2020-21
The area known as the Duckpond held good water 
at times and attracted the most birds of any survey 
site. The Dam Wall site also had relatively high 
abundance of birds.

Bird Richness by site > 2021  
(number of species recorded) 
The areas known as Dam Wall and Duck Ponds 
showed the highest richness (diversity of bird 
species), probably reflecting diversity of habitat and 
availability of water.

Overall, those involved in the bird counting have 
felt encouraged by the indications of population 
strength and diversity, most notably in the 
Duckpond and Dam Wall areas.

One notable continuing feature of visits to Winton 
Wetlands in 2020-21 is the abundance of raptors. 
Thirteen raptors can be found. Brown Falcon, 
Nankeen Kestrel, Wedge-tail Eagle and Whistling 
Kites are common. The continued presence of White 
Bellied Sea Eagles is seen to be significant.

Mr Pat Feehan, President of Birdlife Murray Goulburn, 
and an enthusiastic team of volunteers from 
this organisation gave generous and dedicated 
contributions of time and effort across the four 
quarterly surveys conducted in 2020-21. We thank 
them most sincerely for their valuable contributions.

(Information reported here combines information from 
the 2020-21 quarterly surveys and some longer-term 
observations in the Winton Wetlands Bird Survey – Phase 
1 Review 2019. Further detail is available from Winton 
Wetlands Committee of Management on request.)

Number of  
species recorded 
in 2020/21168

198
8901
974
16
6

Number of  
species  
2013-2021

Number of  
birds recorded  
in 2020/21

Number of  
bird records 2021  
(1 record = 1 bird  
recorded at 1 location)

Number of sites

Number of new species  
(not recorded before in surveys)  
Chestnut-rumped Thornbill, Dollarbird, 
Long-billed Corella, White-naped 
Honeyeater, Singing Honeyeater
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Reptile inventory surveys were conducted across 
32 sites throughout the Winton Wetlands reserve in 
September 2020 and March 2021. These were the first 
site-wide surveys conducted since 2010. Common 
survey techniques were used to capture or detect 
reptile species including pitfall trapping, funnel 
trapping and the use of artificial habitats such as roof 
tiles and bark covers on trees.

Combined September 2020 and March 2021 survey 
results yielded 12 different reptile species (from 302 
captures) and four different frog species (from 283 
captures). Two new species were recorded for the 
reserve- Grey’s Skink(Menetia greyii) and the Dwyer’s 
Snake(Parasuta dwyeri). These records will add 
valuable information to the Victorian Biodiversity Atlas 
and have essentially added new ‘dots’ to the state 
species distribution maps.

Other highlights were multiple Olive Legless Lizards 
(Delma inornata) at Humphries Hill, Gould’s Hill and 
Ashmead’s Road sites as well as some Rainbow 
Skinks(Carlia tetradactyla).  

The discovery of Menetia greyii  (Grey’s Skink) on the 
reserve was particularly exciting, as none of these 
had been found in 2010. The same could be said for 
Parasuta dwyeri (Dwyer’s Snake), not recorded in 
the previous study in 2010, and last recorded on the 
reserve as long ago as 1970.

Further reptile surveying will occur in Autumn 2022.

In regard to amphibians, four different frog species 
were recorded, based on 117 frogs captured for the 
study, and 11 kinds of reptile in total, from a sample of 
80 reptiles captured. The most commonly caught frog 
was Limnodynastes tasmaniensis (Spotted Marsh Frog). 
The most commonly caught reptile was Morethia 
boulengeri  (Boulenger’s Skink).

There is an abundant population of kangaroos 
at Winton Wetlands, primarily eastern grey 
kangaroos. The latest estimate is around 3,900, 
giving an average population density of 0.45 across 
the reserve as a whole (ie. a little less than one 
kangaroo for every two hectares).  

Some traffic management measures have been 
taken recently to help manage the impact of 
kangaroos on-site. To date, over 15km of old fencing 
has been removed, with particular focus on fence 
removal along Lake Mokoan Road. The aims of this 
removal are to reduce the amount of ‘funnelling’ of 
kangaroos between fences along the main access 
roads and reducing the risk of road traffic accidents 
caused by kangaroos, and to reduce the risk of 
them being snagged in old unused fence lines 
throughout the reserve.  

Kangaroo warning signage was installed by Benalla 
Council during 2020-21 at multiple locations along 
Lake Mokoan Road and Glenrowan-Boweya Rd.  The 
Committee of Management also supplied the local 
community with a newsletter in April 2021 providing 
information as to what to do regarding injured 
wildlife and how to reduce the chances of vehicle 
collisions with wildlife in the area.

NEW REPTILES CRAWL 
INTO SPOTLIGHT

Further detail on kangaroo populations at 
Winton Wetlands and discussion of relevant 
issues can be found in Winton Wetlands 
Kangaroo Monitoring Program Results 2020, 
available on the Winton Wetlands website 
wintonwetlands.org.au

KANGAROOS COUNTED
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The Winton Wetlands team continued to work 
collaboratively in 2020-21 with one of Australia’s 
most long-standing and successful community 
groups engaged in the restoration of wildlife habitat 
– the Regent Honeyeater Project. 

The Regent Honeyeater, named for its striking 
yellow-and-black plumage, was once a common 
and regular visitor throughout eastern parts of 
Australia, as far north as Rockhampton, west 
to the Riverina region of New South Wales, and 
south to Melbourne. Widespread clearance of their 
woodland habitat has seen their numbers decline 
and their range contract, and has encouraged more 
aggressive species of honeyeaters, such as Noisy 
Miners and Red Wattlebirds, to proliferate.

Preservation of the Regent Honeyeater is worthwhile 
in its own right, but also worth pursuing in view of 
the fact that an environment suited to the Regent 
Honeyeater is also an environment that will be 
attractive to a wide range of other native species 
and good for the natural environment as a whole. 

One of our key project collaborators, the Regent 
Honeyeater Project (RHEP), with financial assistance 
from Goulburn Broken Catchment Management 
Authority (GBCMA), has achieved the revegetation 

of 44 hectares of habitat around two regions of 
the Winton Wetlands reserve - the ‘Bill Friday’ and 
‘Ashmead’s Swamp’ regions of the reserve. 

The overarching goals of the revegetation works 
on the reserve are to increase vegetation quality, 
area and connections between habitat areas. Over 
the past 10 years the Regent Honeyeater Project 
has created more than 500ha of successful 
revegetation work on the reserve.

In 2020-21 the group secured funding through the 
Goulburn Murray Catchment Management Authority, 
for four future revegetation projects on Winton 
Wetlands Reserve- three of them in the ‘Glenrowan 
Block’ which include Grey box (tree) restoration 
works and riparian (creekside) revegetation of 
Show Creek and 11 Mile Creek within this block.  A 
fourth small scale project is the first stage of what 
is hoped to become a vegetation link between 
Humphries Hill and Greens Hill, two other parts of 
the reserve.

The Winton Wetlands Committee of Management 
was proud to help facilitate this activity, and 
grateful for the ongoing contributions being 
made by the Regent Honeyeater Project, both in 
undertaking this important work and in attracting 
the funds necessary from relevant sources.

VEGETATION AND 
HABITAT RESTORED

Work continued through 2020-21 on activities 
designed to capture more water in the landscape 
during wetter periods and restore the site to a more 
natural pre-agricultural state.

This ongoing work is built around a sensitive 
understanding of hydrology, the branch of science 
concerned with the properties of the earth’s water, 
and especially its movement in relation to land.

Under the direction of a water management plan, 
the Winton Wetlands field crew, with assistance 
from a ‘Working for Victoria’ crew engaged by the 
Goulburn Broken Catchment Management Authority 
as part of a Victorian Government employment 
creation scheme during the COVID-19 pandemic 
period, completed some small-scale water 
management works along old farming irrigation 
channels within the Glenrowan Block/Show Creek 
area of the reserve.  

These works included the construction of large 
sandbag weirs along the irrigation channels 
adjacent to Show Creek.  

Water management onsite
Some small water inflows occurred in Winter-Spring 
2020 with little filling except some of the smaller 

WATER: GOING WITH 
THE FLOW

wetlands on-site such as the Duck Pond, Ashmeads 
Swamp and Eleven Mile Creek Wetlands. The 
remainder of the year was relatively dry until new 
rains in March and June 2021 with new filling of the 
smaller wetlands priming the system for greater 
filling expected in Winter/Spring 2021.

A water management strategy was approved and 
implemented in the previous year by the Committee 
of Management. Under the plan, a number of 
actions were required including small scale water 
management works to reverse the drainage that 
occurred on the site prior to Lake Mokoan and to 
develop a water balance model to allow prediction 
of water levels with various flows. 

Further water retention works were undertaken in 
2020-21 allowing more water to be retained and 
to water a remnant Cane Grass area. These trial 
activities demonstrated the effectiveness of the 
methods being used and more of this activity can 
be expected in future. 

Some further priority areas have been identified, 
with more structures to be created over the coming 
year, weather permitting. These relatively small-
scale works will lead to better water retention 
within the smaller wetlands.
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Aside from the importance of the ecological, 
scientific, educational and cultural work under way 
at Winton Wetlands, the Committee of Management 
is charged with the task of making the project as 
economically sustainable as possible.

This involves seeking out opportunities to use 
the site to generate revenue, mindful of the need 
to ensure that any uses to which the land is put 
will remain consistent with the overall aims and 
objectives of an environmental restoration project.

In 2020-21, a number of worthwhile activities went 
ahead, even in the face of some severe site access 
restrictions during the year, and some of these 
activities undertaken provide useful signposts to 
what will continue to be developed further  
over time.

Movies and media
Interest continues to be shown by media production 
companies in using the wetlands site in a variety of 
ways that do not lead to lasting impact on  
the landscape.

In April 2021 filming occurred on-site for an ABC 
television production, Books That Made Us, telling 
the stories of books and authors that have helped to 
shape Australia’s national identity.

Discussions began for the planned filming of an 
international movie production, Foe, on site during 
2021-22, for Amazon Studios.  
This builds on earlier movie production activity for 
The True History of the Kelly Gang. 

Solar energy
Parts of the wetlands site well clear of important 
habitat zones offer the potential for location of 
solar energy panels able to generate power and 
revenue. A proposal for establishment of a solar 
farm is currently awaiting government approval, and 
if granted it will provide the opportunity for ongoing 
generation of clean energy on-site and much-
needed revenue to help cover operating costs.

A critical part of the work of Winton Wetlands  
is participation at national and local conferences, 
at which important networking can be done, 
information shared and collaborative  
approaches built.

In 2020-21 Winton Wetlands’ aquatic ecologist 
Lance Lloyd presented to the Society of Wetland 
Scientists Conference (held as a ‘virtual conference’ 
due to pandemic conditions).  

The presentation was themed around the 
restoration methods being used at Winton 
Wetlands and achievements to date, and generated 
worthwhile discussions.  

Restoration and Research Manager Dr Lisa 
Farnsworth presented to the Victorian Biodiversity 
Virtual Conference during the year.  This 
presentation focused on ‘10 years of restoration 
methods and achievements at Winton Wetlands’.  
The Victorian Biodiversity Conference is a well-
regarded platform to gain the attention and 
potentially the collaboration of researchers and 
universities across the state.

Each year Winton Wetlands seeks to hold its 
own Science Forum, as an opportunity to bring 
researchers, land managers and others onto the 
site and share information on the work under way. 
Unfortunately the ongoing pandemic conditions of 
2020-21 caused two postponements to this Forum, 
with the event ultimately being rescheduled for 
March 2022.

BUILDING ECONOMIC 
SUSTAINABILITY

MAKING  
CONNECTIONS,  
BUILDING  
COLLABORATION

Most of the electricity supplied to Victorian 
households currently comes from coal-fired power 
stations in the Latrobe Valley. Due to well-publicised 
environmental, health and safety concerns, these 
power stations are gradually being wound down. 
To cope with the potential shortfalls caused by 
eventual planned closures, new cleaner forms of 
energy source must be found.

A solar farm will help guarantee a clean and 
renewable source of green energy for the  
local community.

In line with Australia’s renewable energy targets, 
and a growing number of countries around the 
world, the Victorian government is targeting for 50% 
of energy usage to be from renewable energy  
by 2030.

If approved, the Winton Wetlands solar farm will 
reduce thousands of tonnes of greenhouse gas 
production each year, and literally help ‘empower’ 
and bring more economic sustainability to Winton 
Wetlands and the local community. Subject to 
government approval, work on the solar farm is 
scheduled to commence during 2022.

On-site catering and events
Winton Wetlands enjoys an excellent Mokoan Café 
and Hub complex which is suitable not only for 
regular daily visitors to the wetlands, but also for 
hosting events of various kinds, from professional 
and academic forums through to more  
festive gatherings.

In previous years the Mokoan Café and Hub area 
has been the venue for an annual Science Forum 
held on site, and it is expected to be again in 2021-
22. Among the more festive events held at the 
complex in 2020-21 were a large-scale Mother’s 
Day lunch and a wedding. There is scope to develop 
such activities further, and there will be renewed 
attention to marketing for these purposes in  
2021-22 with COVID-19 pandemic conditions 
expected to ease.

Novel funding sources
Active consideration continues to be given to novel 
additional sources of operational revenue. The 
Committee of Management continues to explore 
promising concepts for further generation of 
revenue on-site, with potential educational and 
cultural partnerships high on the list.
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Winton Wetlands Committee of Management seeks to 
advance the science of wetlands management and over time 
to help build the profile of effective wetlands management 
as being integral to a healthy environment for Victoria  
and Australia.

In doing so it is advised and guided by an Environmental 
Strategy Advisory Panel (ESAP), which in 2020-21 consisted 
of eight members.

The panel is required to have a maximum of six independent 
scientific members including a chair and up to two 
community members. In addition, one or two members of 
the Committee of Management may be delegated to take up 
positions on the Environmental Strategy Advisory Panel. 

The panel has an independent chair appointed by the 
Committee of Management. 

Membership in 2020-2021 was: 

> Professor Max Finlayson | Charles Sturt University; Chair  
(attended 1 of 2 meetings held)

> Michelle Casanova | Federation University  
(attended 2 of 2 meetings held)

> Rob Carolane | Committee of Management Member  
(attended 2 of 2 meetings held)

> Susan Campbell | Community Member  
(attended 2 of 2 meetings held)

> Catherine Allan | Charles Sturt University  
(attended 1 of 2 meetings held)

> Geoff Barrow | Friends of Winton Wetlands  
(attended 2 of 2 meetings held)

> Dennis Patterson | Committee of Management Member  
(attended 2 of 2 meetings held)

> Professor Peter Gell | Federation University  
(attended 2 of 2 meetings held)

> Sue Berwick (attended 0 of 2 meetings held) 

> Emeritus Professor Sam Lake - Monash University 
Retired from ESAP after 10 years of service on the panel, 
having joined the inaugural panel in February 2011.

The Science Forum originally scheduled for August 2020 
postponed due to COVID-19 and ultimately rescheduled 
for March 2022. Regular meetings of ESAP were held in 
November 2020 and March 2021. (A meeting originally 
scheduled for June 2021 was postponed to July 2021.)

A Wetland of Distinction
In May 2020, Winton Wetlands was formally recognised 
by the US-based Society of Wetland Scientists as the 
newest Wetlands of Distinction, the first wetland to be 
nominated outside the United States. 

The Society of Wetland Scientists is the largest society of 
wetland researchers and practitioners and its Wetlands 
of Distinction initiative raises public awareness of 
wetlands and their social and environmental benefits. 
The Wetlands of Distinction initiative has helped 
create an information index on biology, ecology and 
conservation for a large number of wetlands. These 
listings aim to encourage further interest in wetlands and 
nature conservation, promoting exceptional examples 
of wetlands and natural places to be highlighted and 
further examined.

The listing is based on the environmental values of 
the site as well as the Committee of Management’s 
active restoration and management and its trajectory of 
improving biodiversity and ecosystem function. 

This recognition places Winton Wetlands on the 
international stage.

The global stage
The Committee hopes its Wetlands of Distinction listing 
along with broader international recognition will assist 
in ongoing efforts to achieve Ramsar* listing for Winton 
Wetlands.

In previous years an assessment of values of Winton 
Wetlands found at least two of nine Ramsar criteria were 
met. A listed site need only meet one.

ESAP and the Committee of Management reviewed the 
documentation during 2020/21 and agreed to proceed 
with the next steps for applying for Ramsar status. These 
next steps involve meetings with regional management 
agencies and the community to confirm regional support 
for the application. 

Unfortunately, the Covid 19 Pandemic prevented face-
to-ace gatherings during much of the year under review, 
and activity was not progressed as expected. A plan has 
been updated and is expected to be progressed once 
more in 2021-22.

*Ramsar is an international treaty for the conservation 
and sustainable use of wetlands, named after the city of 
Ramsar in Iran, where the convention was signed in 1971.

ADVANCING SCIENCE AND 
BUILDING RECOGNITION
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EDUCATING AND  
ENGAGING WITH  
THE COMMUNITY
Winton Wetlands plays an important role in seeking 
to educate people – especially young people – on the 
importance of wetland ecosystems and their role in 
fostering a healthy environment for species of many 
kinds, including humans themselves.

Efforts in this realm were limited to a degree in 
2021-22 due to ongoing pandemic conditions 
which restricted many activities. However, between 
lockdown periods the Winton Wetlands team worked 
to continue building relationships with educators, 
students and others.

Some key examples in 2020-21 were:

> School camps and visits which continued to 
happen, including, for example, colleges in 
Wangaratta and Kyabram.

> Continuation of the ‘Bush Kindy’ sessions held 
on-site to engage pre-school children. This 
activity has been an extension of kindergarten 
excursions held once a month by different 
kindergartens in Benalla and Wangaratta. 
Initially these sessions, held in and around 
the old Yacht Club building, have focused on 
playful activities around “tracks and scats” - 
encouraging children to seek out animal tracks 
and droppings as evidence of their presence 
on the land. In the coming year it is hoped that 
activities will extend to giving children some 
exposure to Yorta Yorta heritage and culture. 

> A visit by Melbourne University academics to 
interview members of the Winton Wetlands field 
team for the development of online  
learning materials

> Offering of internships. During 2020-21 the 
Committee of Management hosted two 
short term internships, as a continuation 
of a mutually beneficial relationship with 
Environmental Science Masters students from 
the University of Melbourne. The students 

participating in these field internships gain 
course credits towards their Master’s degree 
and in turn also contribute to the on-site 
management and restoration efforts here at 
Winton Wetlands. 

One student, Louis Boyle-Bryant, completed 
infrared camera monitoring at a number of 
Regent Honeyeater sites in an effort to gain 
a measure of herbivore impacts on native 
vegetation establishment (hares, rabbits, 
wallabies, kangaroos, wombats).  The key 
findings from the data collection included 
identification of a need to fasten tree guards 
and stakes in a different fashion to minimise 
damage caused by kangaroos.  Camera 
evidence also suggested that both kangaroos 
and hares were directly impacting on the 
vegetation through their eating patterns. The 
student doing this work was subsequently 
recruited as a Field Ecologist at  
Winton Wetlands. 

Another student, Luke Legudi, came for a four 
week long field ecology internship in early 2021.  
He gained direct experience in field ecology 
through work conducting reptile surveys, feral 
animal control, water quality monitoring and 
frog collection and handling.  Luke was also 
subsequently recruited as a Field Officer/
Ecologist at Winton Wetlands when a position 
became available.

In these and other ways, Winton Wetlands is 
continuing to support education and engagement 
activities that have value for both life in general 
and also for more specific professional and career 
purposes.
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As part of the Victorian Government’s Regional 
Development Victoria funding grants, a group of 
Yorta Yorta artists was commissioned in 2020 to 
create large-scale outdoor artworks expected to be 
installed at Winton Wetlands during 2021-22. The 
work will be located outdoors in 12 places, in the 
café/hub vicinity and along the immediate bike trail 
near the Hub and Café (moving right from the Hub 
for about 500 metres).

The Art Trail has the capacity to support the vision 
and strategy for Winton Wetlands through:

> Collaboration with the Yorta Yorta Nation 
Aboriginal Corporation 

> Engagement of Yorta Yorta artists 

> Creation of programs that will support the Yorta 
Yorta Nation, and national, regional and local 
tourism through drawing new visitors to the site

> Providing visitors with an opportunity to learn 
more about Yorta Yorta culture in Victoria’s  
north-east

> Substantially support the ongoing development 
of an interpretive program at Winton Wetlands

> Education programs for indigenous culture

The first work to be completed for the Trail was 
a tree carving commenced by Yorta Yorta artist 
and retired community worker Ollie Patten in April 
2021. Using a tree sourced on-site and moved to 
a location along the Art Trail, Mr Patten spent six 
weeks carving what has become an arresting 
Rainbow Serpent. New works by other artists are  
in progress.

Completion of the project has been impacted by the 
COVID-19 pandemic, but at the time of writing the 
full set of artworks were expected to be completed 
and installed on-site in the first half of 2022. This 
will add a further compelling reason for tourists and 
others to come and experience Winton Wetlands.

BUILDING CULTURAL 
UNDERSTANDING

Further prominence was given to the Winton 
Wetlands project in late 2020 with the selection of a 
piece of outdoor art from the Wetlands to feature on 
a series of postage stamps by Australia Post.

The Winton Wetlands Art Tank, by artist Guido Van 
Helten, is featured on the stamp. It is one of 74 
painted water towers throughout rural Australia 
and one of the most photographed locations at the 
Winton Wetlands site. It is also part of the official 
Silo Art Tour for the Benalla region.

The Australia Post stamp series showcases some of 
Australia’s highly distinctive water tower art, which 
has drawn interest around the world.

The Winton Wetlands Art Tank is a visual 
acknowledgment of local CFA volunteers created 
during the 2016 Wall-to-Wall Street Art Festival 
held on-site. Prior to commencing the artwork, Mr 
Van Helten met with members from local Country 
Fire Authority (CFA) brigades to gain inspiration. 
The artist incorporated portraits of three local 
volunteers, Colin Hooke from Chesney Vale Brigade, 
Robert Green of Taminick Brigade and Danielle 
Spokes of Winton Brigade, to create a multi-
dimensional tribute. 

While street art may be typically viewed as an 
urban medium, street art towns, like Benalla, are 
emerging across Australia, helping to express 
important aspects of local history and character 
and promote tourism.

Guido Van Helten is a prominent public mural artist 
and his characteristically realist, monochrome 
portraits can also be found on buildings in Ukraine, 
Poland, Spain, Belarus, Finland, Italy and America. 
His style is highly realistic - he often paints from 
photographs and is inspired by the tradition of 
documentary style humanist street photography. 

The Van Helten tank can be found in the middle of 
the wetlands. Other Winton Wetlands art projects 
can be found throughout the site, some honouring 
the European settlement history of the area.

A STAMP  
OF APPROVAL

©Jayson Pratt
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Long neck turtles digging in 

Funding was received in 2020 through the 
Commonwealth Government’s Community 
Environment Program to help develop the former  
Lake Mokoan Yacht Club building into a research  
centre and viewing area for long-neck turtle 
conservation activities.

The development is to include ‘wet laboratory’ space 
to house and incubate large numbers of turtle eggs, 
space for university researchers to come and stay 
onsite for periods of time, and a viewing window for 
members of the public to observe turtle hatching and 
other activities first-hand.

SUPPORTING OUR 
WILDLIFE ‘ICONS’

The activity forms part of the ‘1 Million Turtles Project’, 
a research and conservation initiative being led by a 
research team backed by diverse industry partners, 
indigenous groups, and non-government organisations 
from three states.

Research has shown that long neck turtles face serious 
risk at Winton Wetlands and other breeding locations 
around the country from foxes and other predators, 
eating them before they are able to hatch and reach 
maturity. Intervention is necessary to maintain and 
rebuild their populations.

The turtle breeding program is due to get under way at 
Winton Wetlands during 2022.

Coming soon: Growling Grass Frogs!
Growling Grass Frogs were once a common species 
in wetland ecosystems but are now listed as an 
endangered species in Victoria. The species has not 
been recorded at the Winton Wetlands site since 1970 
and is now deemed locally extinct. 

These frogs are regarded as an important species to 
wetland ecosystems as they are a predator to insects 
and other frogs, making them functionally different 
from other frog species. 

They are also known to be an important food source 
for predatory wetland birds. Returning Growling 
Grass frogs into the Winton Wetlands reserve and 
other areas will help secure the species status 
locally and regionally, increase biodiversity on the 
site and help restore critical ecological functions 
and processes. 

In 2020-21 the Winton Wetlands team completed 
Stage 1 of a Winton Wetlands Rewilding Project, 
funded by Wettenhall Environment Trust, to 
determine the habitat suitability of the site and the 
risks of disease for growling grass frogs. 

The Wettenhall Environment Trust is a philanthropic 
organisation which supports projects that enhance 
and maintain the vitality of the Australian natural 
environment. The Ross Trust is a philanthropic trust 
with a focus on encouraging positive social and 
environmental change in Victoria. Together they 
have supported Stage 1 of the Growling Grass  
Frog project.

Stage 2, proceeding in 2021-22, will involve the 
establishment of translocation protocols, approvals 
and quarantine facilities, establishment of a 
breeding and feeding system; and establishment of 

a research and monitoring plan and equipment. 

Stage 2 is the critical step to actually establish a 
captive breeding population to allow reintroduction 
of the species on-site. Throughout 2021-22 and 
beyond it will involve a network of Growling Grass 
Frog researchers and conservationists throughout 
Victoria, South Australia, and New South Wales. 

A captive quarantine and breeding facility for the 
frogs is being established in a new Science Centre 
located in the former Lake Mokoan Yacht  
Club building.

A third stage of the project will eventually 
see further breeding, multiple releases onsite 
(ultimately it is hoped growling grass frogs will be 
made available to other community groups and 
agencies to “rewild” on other locations too), and 
further monitoring and research undertaken to 
ensure the process is successful and repeatable so 
that it can become a working model for others.

While Growling Grass Frogs may be small creatures 
in themselves, they offer big potential as an 
important and iconic native species due to begin 
returning to Winton Wetlands in 2021-22.
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An important part of the Committee of Management’s 
stewardship role is to ensure that pest animal and plant 
species are controlled and eliminated to the extent 
possible across the site. This work continued throughout 
2020-21.

Two annual fox shooting events resulted in 50 foxes 
successfully shot. Fox baiting efforts were continuous, 
with up to 40 canid pest ejectors (specialised poison bait 
devices) deployed across the site, primarily located in 
regions defined as having ‘high biodiversity value’ – eg. 
close to known turtle nesting and bird breeding areas.  

The Winton Wetlands field team regularly checks 
the ejectors and in 2020-21 began utilising mapping 
programs to share the ‘bait take’ results with a  
wider audience.

A Corrections Victoria Landmate crew (made up of 
serving low security prisoners) continued a strategic 
rabbit warren fumigation/treatment program on the 
reserve.  In 2020-21 warrens were treated along the 
Lunette, Ashmead’s Swamp, Humphries Hill, Green’s Hill, 
Robertson’s Hill and Gould’s Hill areas of the reserve. 

Further assistance was given by a crew from ‘Working 
for Victoria’ (A State employment creation scheme 
during the COVID-19 pandemic) to assist with broad 
scale woody weed control in the south-west region of 
the reserve in autumn 2021.  On a site-wide scale, weed 
management has required a consistent treatment and 
surveillance effort, with most of the focus on roadsides, 
visitor nodes and revegetation sites.  Spraying for 
Paterson’s Curse, Phalaris and African Lovegrass have 
been the general priorities.  

Field ecologist Louis Boyle Bryant completed 
important work on a detailed weed management 
program including weed target species, appropriate 
treatment methods (both chemical and biological), 
timing, associated equipment and consumables costs, 
associated staff time and the need for  
sub-contractor assistance.  

All weed management occurs with reference to a range 
of State and Commonwealth policy frameworks and 
guidance documents which set priorities for invasive 
weed management, control and reporting. 

Full details are available in the Winton Wetlands Invasive 
Plant Management Plan, updated during 2020-21 and 
published in July 2021. It is available on the Winton 
Wetlands website – www.wintonwetlands.org.au

PESTS KEPT AT BAY

FIRE RISKS MANAGED
Regular fire management activities continued through 
2020-21, in line with the Winton Wetlands Fire 
Management Plan, and in collaboration with Forest Fire 
Management Victoria.   

An annual fuel management slashing program was 
carried out in October/November 2020, including 
internal and perimeter roadsides as well as Tom’s 
Track.  Grazing of cattle and/or sheep along eastern 
and south-western boundaries of the reserve was 
managed to reduce fuel load in those areas.  A planned 
burn-off scheduled for Spring 2020 was cancelled and 
slashing was conducted by Forest Fire Management 
Victoria (FFMV) in that area instead. 

Bi-annual planning meetings are held onsite with FFMV 
and the Country Fire Authority, to develop a new fire 
management plan. This can be found at the Winton 
Wetlands website – www.wintonwetlands.org.au .

ROADS MAINTAINED
Road maintenance and repairs continued routinely 
across the reserve in 2020-21, from the Dam Wall to 
the main linking roads throughout the reserve. 
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Dr Dennis O’Brien (Chair)
Dennis O’Brien was appointed as chair 
of the committee in 2012. Dennis has 
held positions at several universities in 
Australia and overseas, most recently as 
the Director of Postgraduate Programs 
at Marcus Oldham College. Prior to that 
position, he was Associate Professor and 
Head of the Dookie Campus and Acting 
Associate Dean Teaching and Learning in 
the Faculty of Land and Food Resources 
at the University of Melbourne. He has 
a Bachelor of Science (Agriculture), a 
Master of Science and a PhD. Dennis 
has a strong history of community 
engagement through his board work at 
the national and state levels in NSW and 
Victoria. He has a strong belief in the 
ecological, social, and commercial value 
of the wetlands to the local and  
regional community.
(13 meetings attended out of 13  
held in 2020-21)

Rob Carolane (Deputy Chair)
Rob Carolane was initially appointed 
to the committee of management in 
2012. He is a self-employed consultant 
facilitator and community engagement 
practitioner based in Wangaratta. Prior 
to working as a facilitator, Rob worked 
for five years with the Environment 
Protection Authority Victoria as a 
community engagement specialist. 
Rob has served as Chair of The Centre 
for Continuing Education Inc. and is a 
volunteer with the Country Fire Authority. 
Rob joined the Committee to bring his 
knowledge and skills in ecology and 
community engagement to this vital 
project. Qualifications include Bachelor 
of Science (Microbiology), Advanced 
Diploma of Group Facilitation, Certified 
Professional Facilitator, Graduate, Alpine 
Valleys Community Leadership Program 
and a Graduate of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.
(13 meetings attended out of 13  
held in 2020-21)

Lindy Allen
Lindy is a highly experienced senior 
executive currently operating Living 
Proof Media, a consultancy to the arts. 
She moved to north-east Victoria in 

The Committee of Management’s role is to:

> manage, improve, maintain and control the 
Winton Wetlands reserve for the purposes for 
which it is reserved

> report on its finances and other issues as 
directed by the Department of Environment, 
Land, Water and Planning 

> maintain records and administer its affairs 
as a public body; • exercise all such powers, 
functions and authorities and carry out all such 
duties as are conferred or imposed on it by  
any regulations

> carry out works and improvements on the land 

Under the relevant Act, the Board also has the 
authority to:

> undertake financial transactions, including 
borrowing money and investing (with Treasurer’s 
consent) and enter contracts 

> enter tenure arrangements such as leasing and 
licensing for part or all of the reserve, subject to 
Minister’s approval 

> effect and enforce any regulations 

> employ staff to manage the land 

2015 and is intrigued by the rich layers 
of ancient and post-colonial history 
embodied in the Winton Wetlands 
site. Recent professional roles include 
CEO, Regional Arts Australia and CEO, 
Regional Arts Victoria. Lindy was the 
Executive Producer for the Centenary of 
Canberra’s largest national community 
engagement program, One River, 
spanning four states and a territory. 
Current board roles include the Cultural 
Development Network and Falls Creek 
Resort Management. Lindy has also been 
a judge and mentor for the Victorian 
Tourism Industry Commission awards 
and an Australia Day Ambassador. 
Professional qualifications include 
Bachelor of Arts, Graduate Diploma Arts 
Management, Photojournalism Major, 
Bachelor of Creative Arts and a Graduate 
of the Australian Institute of  
Company Directors.
(12 meetings attended out of 13  
held in 2020-21)

Suz Christison
Suz’s passion for outdoors and 
connecting people with natural places 
is what led her to Winton Wetlands 
Committee of Management. With 
experience in education and training, 
Suz brings expertise in leadership 
development, community engagement, 
facilitation, strategic planning, and 
group training. Qualifications include a 
Bachelor of Arts (Outdoor Education), 
Graduate Certificate Adolescent Health 
and Welfare, Diploma in Facilitatory 
Management, and Certificate IV in 
Training and Assessment. Suz is a 
Graduate of the Australian Institute of  
Company Directors.
(13 meetings attended out of 13  
held in 2020-21)

Ross Davies
Ross has a wide and diverse leadership 
career providing over 30 years’ 
experience delivering proactive solutions 
in agriculture, catchment management 
and the water industry. His extensive 
experience in government, policy and 
project delivery extends across a range 
of industries for the private and public 
sectors. He is focused on the delivery 
of programs and projects, to ensure 

recognition of the Wetlands. He is a 
manager and architect with significant 
contributions to the water industry and 
its reform. His extensive experience 
has given him the ability to navigate 
through the labyrinth of government 
process, to fast-track real commercial 
outcomes, with multi-million-dollar 
benefits, stakeholder confidence and a 
legacy for the future. Ross has tertiary 
qualifications in agricultural science and 
agribusiness and is a qualified  
company director. 
(12 meetings attended out of 13  
held in 2020-21)

Cr Don Firth
Don has lived in Benalla nearly all his 
life and his family has been involved 
in sport, education, business, and 
community services. He has served 
on local committees such as Cooinda 
Village, Apex, Benalla Saints Football 
Club, All Blacks Football Club and TAFE 
Advisory Committee. He has been a 
longtime user of Lake Mokoan including 
water skiing and fishing. He is interested 
in the future use of Winton Wetlands 
as an ecotourism destination and in 
showing the indigenous history of the 
area before European settlement. 
(2 meetings attended out of 3 held 
prior to local government election)

Cr Dave Fuller
Dave brings a range of experience from 
his work with Rural City of Wangaratta 
Council, and also ongoing roles including 
six years on the board of the Wangaratta 
Festival of Jazz & Blues, four years 
chairing the Wangaratta Chamber of 
Commerce, and a number of other 
committees throughout the community. 
Dave’s background in the commercial 
sector comes from a mixture of 
hospitality and finance in management 
and training. He hopes that that during 
his time on the committee he will be 
able to advocate for the support the 
project needs, to increase the visibility 
of the project, and ensure its long-term 
viability. 
(2 meetings attended out of 3 held 
prior to local government election)

COMMITTEE OF MANAGEMENT:  
ROLE AND MEMBERSHIP

Board members are appointed under the Crown 
Land (Reserves) Act 1978 for a term of three 
years by the Minister for Energy, Environment and 
Climate Change, and are selected through a public, 
skills-based expression of interest process. Board 
members meet monthly to oversee and provide 
strategic direction to the organisation. 

STANDARDS OF CONDUCT 

The Winton Wetlands Committee of Management confirms 
that each Board member has ensured their conduct 
is consistent with the required standards and acted 
consistently within the public sector values. The Winton 
Wetlands Committee of Management’s Code of Conduct 
also complies with the public sector values and the 
general duties of ‘directors’ (Board members) in section 79 
of the Public Administration Act 2004.

The powers of the Committee are set out in Section 15 of 
the Crown Land (Reserves) Act 1978, and are summarised 
in the Committee of Management Responsibilities and 
Good Practice Guidelines 2003.

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

ABOVE: Four members of the Committee of Management 2020-21 
(L to R): Dr Dennis O’Brien (Chair), Sue Lebish, Suz Christison and 
Lindy Allen. These members are to continue as a streamlined 
three-person committee as of 1 July 2021 (with the exception of 
Sue Lebish, who left the committee upon her appointment as CEO 
in August 2020).
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Dennis Paterson
Dennis has a long history of association 
with site-as a hunter on the original 
Winton Swamp and then as a fisherman 
on Lake Mokoan. Dennis is a Councillor 
and former Mayor of Greater Shepparton 
City Council. He holds the positions of 
Chair of River Connect (a joint program 
between Council and Goulburn Broken 
Catchment Authority), Shepparton 
Aerodrome and on The Murray Darling 
Basin Association. He has previously 
held positions at a national level as 
a Board Member of Field and Game 
Australia and has been President / 
Conservation Officer of the Shepparton 
Field and Game during his 30-year 
membership with the Club. Dennis has 
a passion for wetlands and strongly 
supports wetland education as a positive 
tool in engaging our younger generations 
and sees Indigenous Tourism as  
the sleeping giant for tourism  
in Australia. 
(11 meetings attended out of 13  
held in 2020-21)

These committee members served 
until 30 June 2021. From 1 July 2021, 
the Committee of Management is to 
continue its work with a streamlined 
membership, as follows:

Dennis O’Brien (Chair)

Lindy Allen

Suz Christison

Note: Sue Lebish was appointed Chief 
Executive Officer commencing 10 August 
2020, and ceased to be a Committee 
member as of that date. She replaced 
Daniel Basham, who left on 2 July 2020.

Sue Lebish
Sue has over 20 years of professional and 
senior management experience in finance, 
governance, project and risk management 
roles throughout Australia. Sue’s recent 
professional positions include being the 
Chair of the Audit Committee for the Alpine 
Shire, a member of the Falls Creek Alpine 
Resort Management Board, Mt Hotham 
Alpine Resort Management Board and Mt 
Buller and Mt Stirling Resort Management 
Board. Sue’s formal qualifications include 
being a Graduate of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors, a Fellow of the 
Governance Institute of Australia, a Certified 
Practicing Accountant, a Master of Business 
Administration, a Bachelor of Commerce, 
and she is also a Member of the Australian 
Risk Policy Institute. Sue believes in the 
development of the commercial, ecological, 
and social value of Winton Wetlands 
to local and regional Victoria and its 
people.
(1 meeting attended prior to change of 
role to CEO in August 2020)

Suzy Martin
Suzy has lived in the region for more 
than two decades. Prior to this she 
lived in Melbourne where she was 
marketing and merchandise manager 
of a leading national designer label. 
Suzy has a long association with the 
region including through her role as a 
Councillor for Benalla Rural City Council 
from 2008–2016, secondly as a farmer 
through her membership of several farm 
groups and her work liaising with the 
clients of the cattle stud co owned with 
her husband Jim and finally through her 
experience participating in numerous 
Farmers Markets and Expos throughout 
the region. Suzy was the Chair of the 
Benalla Festival for six years and has 
been a member of the Benalla Art 
Gallery Committee. 
(8 meetings attended out of 13  
held in 2020-21)

PARTNERS AND  
ACTIVE SUPPORTERS
NATIONAL 

Australian Federal Government 

Office of Helen Haines, Federal Member for Indi 

Turtles Australia 

STATE 

Victorian State Government 

Department of Environment, Land, Water & Planning 

Regional Development Victoria 

Country Fire Authority 

Goulburn Murray Water 

Goulburn Broken Catchment Management Authority 

North East Catchment Management Authority 

Zoos Victoria 

Parks Victoria 

VicRoads 

Department of Education 

Corrections Victoria 

Wildlife Victoria 

REGIONAL  

Yorta Yorta Nation Aboriginal Corporation 

Friends of Winton Wetlands 

Regent Honeyeater Group 

Swamps Rivers Ranges 

Swanpool Environmental Film Festival 

Tourism North East 

Conservation Volunteers Australia 

Beechworth Landmate Team 

PHILANTHROPIC 

Wettenhall Environment Trust 

WildArk 

Australian Geographic 

Canine Ecological 

Ross Trust

ACADEMIC 

University of Melbourne 

Charles Sturt University 

La Trobe University 

University of Western Sydney 

Deakin University 

Monash University 

Federation University 

Sandhurst Catholic Diocese 

Department of Education (North Eastern Region) 

LOCAL  

Benalla Rural City 

Rural City of Wangaratta 

Visit Wangarattta 

Winton North Community History Group 

Enjoy Benalla

Benalla Festival 

Benalla Business Network

Astronomy Benalla

Wildlife Rescue Benalla

Wall to Wall Street Art Festival

SUB-COMMITTEES

FINANCE, REMUNERATION AND 
COMMERCIAL OPERATION
Dennis O’Brien, Chair
(12 meetings attended out of 12  
held in 2020-21)

Sue Lebish
(2 meetings attended out of 2 held prior 
to appointment as CEO in August 2020)

Ross Davies
(11 meetings attended out of 12  
held in 2020-21)

Lindy Allen
(12 meetings attended out of 12  
held in 2020-21)

GOVERNANCE, AUDIT  
AND RISK

Rob Carolane, Chair
(4 meetings attended out of 4  
held in 2020-21)

Dennis Patterson
(3 meetings attended out of 3 held since 
being appointed to sub-committee in 
November 2020)

Don Firth
(1 meeting attended prior to local 
government election)

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

Public Administration Act 2004

Winton Wetlands Committee of 
Management adheres to the merit 
and equity principles of the Public 
Administration Act 2004 to ensure 
recruitment decisions are based on 
merit, that employees are treated fairly 
and reasonably, that equal employment 
opportunities are provided and that 
procedures are in place to deal with 
disputes. To ensure employees were 
aware of their responsibilities, the 
appropriate policies and procedures 
have been adopted by the  
Winton Wetlands.

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP
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WINTON WETLANDS
Committee of Management Incorporated

Financial Report for the  
year ended 30 June 2021

ABN: 53 2242 682 94

Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Inc.

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2021

2021 2020
$ $

Revenue
Revenue from operating activities 2 1,758,463 2,395,809
Other income 2 1,960,450 174,680

3,718,913 2,570,489

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 3 (1,103,440) (1,031,794)
Depreciation and amortisation 3 (213,273) (212,325)
Impairment of capital WIP - (35,649)
Other project and administration expenses
- Accelerate visitation - site development (59,949) (98,009)
- Ecological renewal - land management (51,088) (69,667)
- Ecological renewal - restoration science (43,408) (27,145)
- Make our community proud (2,233) (2,868)
- Connect in remarkable ways (38,654) (57,764)
- Unlock our potential - Hub (190,103) (234,485)
- Governance (182,667) (193,607)
- Corporate Services (39,555) (91,861)
- Other project grant expenditure (3,745) (5,524)

(1,928,115) (2,060,698)

Current year surplus before income tax 1,790,798 509,791

Other comprehensive income - -

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 1,790,798 509,791

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

Net current year surplus/(deficit) attributable to members of the association 1,790,798 509,791

Total comprehensive income//(loss) attributable to members of the company 1,790,798 509,791

Note

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
2
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Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Inc.

Statement of Financial Position
For the year ended 30 June 2021

2021 2020
$ $

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 2,128,806 972,104
Accounts receivable and other debtors 7 21,284 36,939
Inventories 8 14,976 15,041
Other current assets 9 168 13,817
Financial assets 6 836,741 1,432,810
Total current assets 3,001,975 2,470,711

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 8,266,819 8,313,415
Right of use assets 11 36,977 18,845
Intangible assets 12 4,439 11,065
Total non-current assets 8,308,235 8,343,325

Total assets 11,310,210 10,814,036

Liabilities 
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities 14 113,453 245,783
Lease liabilities 13 6,678 21,089
Employee provisions 15 76,301 56,647
Total current liabilities 196,432 323,519

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 13 33,988 1,397
Funds held in trust 14 - 1,200,128
Total non-current liabilities 33,988 1,201,525

Total liabilities 230,420 1,525,044

Net assets 11,079,790 9,288,992

Equity
Retained earnings 8,293,252 6,502,454
Reserves 16 168,038 168,038
Assets Contributed 2,618,500 2,618,500
Total equity 11,079,790 9,288,992

Note

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
3

Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Inc.

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Asset 
Note Revaluation

Reserve
$ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2019 5,992,663 168,038 2,618,500 8,779,201

Result for the year 488,850 - - 488,850

Balance at 30 June 2020 6,481,513 168,038 2,618,500 9,268,051

Balance at 1 July 2020 6,481,513 168,038 2,618,500 9,268,051

Adjustment to net result due to 
prior period error

23 20,941 - - 20,941

Restated Balance at 1 July 2020 6,502,454 168,038 2,618,500 9,288,992

Result for the year 1,790,798 - 1,790,798

Balance at 30 June 2021 8,293,252 168,038 2,618,500 11,079,790

Retained 
Earnings

Assets 
Contributed

 Total 
Equity

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
4
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Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Inc.

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2021

2021 2020
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from grants, customers and other sources 3,654,786 977,983

Payments to suppliers and employees (1,813,804) (2,048,385)

Interest received 8,070 31,731

Interest paid (1,387)

Receipts relating to Goods and Services Tax 64,545 115,138

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 1,913,597 (924,920)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (206,768) (165,573)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 67,161 28,133

Payments for purchase of investments - (1,432,810)

Proceeds from disposal of investment (604,059)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (743,666) (1,570,250)

Cash flows from financing activities
Increase/(decrease) in finance lease commitments - -

Repayment of leases (13,229) (37,980)

Net cash flows used in financing activities (13,229) (37,980)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 1,156,702 (2,533,150)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 972,104 3,505,254

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 5 2,128,806 972,104

Note

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
5

Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
 

Accounting Policies

The financial statements cover Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Inc. ('the Committee' or 
'WWCoM') as an individual entity, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Winton Wetlands Committee of 
Management Inc. is incorporated under Crown Land (Reserve) Act (Vic) 1978.

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 14 December 2021 by the committee.

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB) and the Crownland Act 1978. The committee is a not-for-profit entity for financial 
reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in 
financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. 
Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are presented below and 
have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise.

The entity is a not-for-profit for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accrual basis and 
are based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-
current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the financial statements 
have been rounded to the nearest dollar. 

The following significant accounting policies, which are consistent with the previous period unless stated 
otherwise, have been adopted in the preparation of these financial statements.

(a) Income Tax

Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Inc. is a committee of management appointed under the Crown 
Land (Reserves) Act (Vic) 1978 and is a State and Territory Body which is income tax exempt under 
Subdivision A - Exemption for certain state of Div 1AB of Part III of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 
(Cth).

(b) Inventories on hand

Inventories held for sale are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value 
represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of sales. 

Inventories acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, if any, are measured at the current replacement 
cost as at the date of acquisition.

6
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Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Buildings

Increases in the carrying amount arising on  revaluation of land and buildings are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the revaluation reserve in equity. Revaluation decreases that 
offset on previous increases of the same class of assets, shall be recognised in other comprehensive income 
under the heading of revaluation reserve. All other decreases are recognised in profit or loss.

Revaluations

Buildings are shown at Fair Value or at Cost as indicated. In August 2016, OPTEON Property Group 
completed independent valuations for financial reporting purposes, for Mokoan Hub & Café and associated 
plant, equipment and infrastructure, and two other projects. For simplicity in reporting purpose, the values of 
these reports are used in financial statements as at 30 June 2016.

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and are therefore carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Infrastructure assets are measured on the cost basis and are therefore carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Work in progress is valued at cost and depreciation commences on completion of works.
Work in progress

Infrastructure

Land

(c) Property, Plant and Equipment

The Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning ('DELWP') now requires the respective 
Committee of Managements to report the fair value of the parcels of land they manage, in their respective 
financial statements. WWCoM has included the Fair Value of parcels of land it manages, for the first time in 
the 2016 financial year.

Any accumulated deprecation at the date of the revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount 
of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Recognition
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are 
recognised as expenses in profit or loss in the financial period in which they are incurred.  Assets are 
capitalised when the costs exceed the capitalisation threshold of $3,000, the value of the asset can be 
reliably measured and the Committee has control over the future economic benefits of the asset.

Plant and equipment that have been contributed at no cost or for nominal cost are recognised at the fair 
value of the asset at the date it is acquired.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Depreciation Rate
10% - 25%
2.5% - 5%
10% - 40%
12.5%

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are as follows:
- fixed lease payments less any lease incentives;
- variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the 
commencement date;
- the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
- the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options;

Buildings Straight line

(c) Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Depreciation
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets, including buildings and capitalised lease assets, is depreciated 
on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. 
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated useful lives of the improvements.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

Asset Class Method

Initially, the lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments still to be paid at 
commencement date. The lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate 
cannot be readily determined, the committee uses the incremental borrowing rate.

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to 
terminate the lease.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period.

Disposals
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing net proceeds with the carrying amount. These 
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they occur. When revalued assets are 
sold, amounts included in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset are transferred to retained surplus.

(d) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Committee assesses if the contract contains or is a lease. If there is a lease 
present, a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability are recognised by the Committee where the 
Committee is a lessee. However, all contracts that are classified as short-term leases (lease with remaining 
lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets are recognised as an operating expense on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Infrastructure Straight line
Plant and Equipment Straight line
Motor Vehicles Straight line

- lease payments under extension options if lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

8
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Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at:
- amortised cost; or
- fair value through profit or loss.

A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit or loss if the financial liability is:
- a contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3: Business 
Combinations applies;
- held for trading; or
- initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest expense in profit or loss over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the internal rate of return of the financial asset or liability. That is, it is the rate 
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the instrument to the net 
carrying amount at initial recognition.

Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, 
except where the instrument is classified “at fair value through profit or loss”, in which case transaction costs 
are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Where available, quoted prices in an active market are used to 
determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted.

Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the trade receivables do not contain 
significant financing component or if the practical expedient was applied as specified in AASB 15: Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers.

(d) Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term or useful life of the underlying asset whichever is the 
shortest. Where a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset 
reflects that the committee anticipates to exercise a purchase option, the specific asset is depreciated over 
the useful life of the underlying asset.

(e) Financial Instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the committee becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is the date that the committee commits 
itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is adopted).

9
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

A financial liability cannot be reclassified.

(e) Financial Instruments (continued)

A financial liability is held for trading if it is:
- incurred for the purpose of repurchasing or repaying in the near term;
- part of a portfolio where there is an actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
- a derivative financial instrument (except for a derivative that is in a financial guarantee contract or a 
derivative that is in effective hedging relationships).

Any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship.

The change in fair value of the financial liability attributable to changes in the issuer's credit risk is taken to 
other comprehensive income and is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Instead, it is transferred to 
retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability.

Financial assets
Financial assets are subsequently measured at:
- amortised cost;
- fair value through other comprehensive income; or
- fair value through profit or loss

Measurement is on the basis of two primary criteria:
- the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset; and
- the business model for managing the financial assets.

A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at amortised cost:
- the financial asset is managed solely to collect contractual cash flows; and
- the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates.

A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at other comprehensive 
income:
- the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates; and
- the business model for managing the financial asset comprises both contractual cash flows collection and 
the selling of the financial asset.

By default, all other financial assets that do not meet the measurement conditions of amortised cost and fair 
value through other comprehensive income are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss.

If taking the change in credit risk in other comprehensive income enlarges or creates an accounting 
mismatch, then these gains or losses should be taken to profit or loss rather than other comprehensive 
income.

10
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Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

- the committee no longer controls the asset (i.e. has no practical ability to make a unilateral decision to sell 
the asset to a third party).

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a debt instrument classified as fair value through other comprehensive income, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit 
or loss.

Derecognition refers to the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from the 
statement of financial position.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (i.e. when the obligation in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expires). An exchange of an existing financial liability for a new one with substantially modified 
terms, or a substantial modification to the terms of a financial liability, is treated as an extinguishment of the 
existing liability and recognition of a new financial liability.

The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid 
and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset is derecognised when the holder’s contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or the asset 
is transferred in such a way that all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred.

All the following criteria need to be satisfied for the derecognition of a financial asset:
- the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred;
- all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred; and

- it is in accordance with the documented risk management or investment strategy and information about the 
groupings is documented appropriately, so the performance of the financial liability that is part of a group of 
financial liabilities or financial assets can be managed and evaluated consistently on a fair value basis; and
- it is a hybrid contract that contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flows 
otherwise required by the contract.

The initial designation of financial instruments to measure at fair value through profit or loss is a one-time 
option on initial classification and is irrevocable until the financial asset is derecognised.

(e) Financial Instruments (continued)

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised at settlement date in 
accordance with the Committee’s accounting policy.

Derecognition

The committee initially designates a financial instrument as measured at fair value through profit or loss if:
- it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (often referred to as an 
“accounting mismatch”) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the 
gains and losses on them on different bases;
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- the general approach;
- the simplified approach;
- the purchased or originated credit-impaired approach; and
- low credit risk operational simplification.

General approach

Simplified approach

This approach is applicable to:
- trade receivables; and
- lease receivables.

- financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Loss allowance is not recognised for:
- financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss; or
- equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Expected credit losses are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of a 
financial instrument. A credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due and all 
cash flows expected to be received, all discounted at the original effective interest rate of the financial 
instrument.

The Committee uses the following approaches to impairment, as applicable under AASB 9: Financial 
Instruments:

Under the general approach, at each reporting period, the Committee assesses whether the financial 
instruments are credit-impaired, and:
- if the credit risk of the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the 
committee measures the loss allowance of the financial instruments at an amount equal to the lifetime 
expected credit losses; and

(e) Financial Instruments (continued)

On derecognition of an investment in equity which the committee elected to classify under fair value through 
other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment’s 
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.

Impairment

The Committee recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on:
- financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income;
- lease receivables;
- contract assets (e.g. amount due from customers under construction contracts);
- loan commitments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss; and

- if there is no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the committee measures the loss 
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses.

The simplified approach does not require tracking of changes in credit risk at every reporting period, but 
instead requires the recognition of lifetime expected credit loss at all times.

In measuring the expected credit loss, a provision matrix for trade receivables is used taking into 
consideration various data to get to an expected credit loss (i.e. diversity of its customer base, appropriate 
groupings of its historical loss experience, etc).

12
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Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Purchased or originated credit-impaired approach

Evidence of credit impairment includes:
- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or borrower;
- a breach of contract (eg default or past due event);

- the likelihood that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and
- the disappearance of an active market for the financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Low credit risk operational simplification approach
If a financial asset is determined to have low credit risk at the initial reporting date, the committee assumes 
that the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition and, accordingly, can continue to 
recognise a loss allowance of 12-month expected credit loss.

To make such a determination that the financial asset has low credit risk, the committee applies its internal 
credit risk ratings or other methodologies using a globally comparable definition of low credit risk.

- the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and
- adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, 
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

A financial asset is not considered to carry low credit risk merely due to existence of collateral, or because a 
borrower has a lower risk of default than the risk inherent in the financial assets, or relative to the credit risk 
of the jurisdiction in which it operates.

At each reporting date, the committee recognises the movement in the loss allowance as an impairment gain 
or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

A financial asset is considered to have low credit risk if:
- there is a low risk of default by the borrower;

Recognition of expected credit losses in financial statements

For financial assets that are considered to be credit-impaired (not on acquisition or originations), the 
committee measures any change in its lifetime expected credit loss as the difference between the asset’s 
gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or 
loss.

(e) Financial Instruments (continued)

- a lender has granted to the borrower a concession, due to the borrower’s financial difficulty, that the lender 
would not otherwise consider;

The carrying amount of financial assets measured at amortised cost includes the loss allowance relating to 
that asset.

Assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised at fair value with 
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income. The amount in relation to change in credit 
risk is transferred from other comprehensive income to profit or loss at every reporting period.

For financial assets that are unrecognised (eg loan commitments yet to be drawn, financial guarantees), a 
provision for loss allowance is created in the statement of financial position to recognise the loss allowance.
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Provision is made for the committee’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee 
benefits are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12 
months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service, 
including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the (undiscounted) 
amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled.

The committee’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are 
recognised as part of current accounts payable and other payables in the statement of financial position.

Provision is made for employees' annual leave entitlements not expected to be settled wholly within 12 
months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service. Other 
long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the expected future payments to be made 
to employees. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of 
service and employee departures, and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at 
the end of the reporting period on high quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the 
terms of the obligations. Any remeasurements of obligations for other long-term employee benefits for 
changes in assumptions are recognised in profit or loss in the periods in which the changes occur.

Short-term employee benefits

(g) Employee Provisions

Other long-term employee benefits

At the end of each reporting period, the committee reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If such an indication 
exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing the recoverable amount of the asset, 
being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use, to the asset's carrying 
amount. Any excess of the asset's carrying amount over its recoverable amount is recognised in profit or 
loss.

The committee’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current provisions in its 
statement of financial position, except where the committee does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period, in which case the obligations are presented as 
current provisions.

(f) Impairment of Assets

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the committee estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent upon the asset's ability to 
generate net cash inflows and when the committee would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining 
future economic benefits, value in use is determined as the depreciated replacement cost of an asset.

Where an impairment loss on a revalued asset is identified, this is recognised against the revaluation surplus 
in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in 
the revaluation surplus for that class of asset.

14
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Contributed Assets

On initial recognition of an asset, the committee recognises related amounts (being contributions by owners, 
lease liability, financial instruments, provisions, revenue or contract liability arising from a contract with a 
customer).

The committee recognises income immediately in profit or loss as the difference between initial carrying 
amount of the asset and the related amount.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at-call with banks, other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.

(h) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Accounts receivable and other debtors include amounts due from members as well as amounts receivable 
from customers for goods sold in the ordinary course of business. Receivables expected to be collected 
within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are classified as current assets. All other receivables are 
classified as non-current assets.

Accounts receivable are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. Refer to Note 1(g) for further discussion on 
the determination of impairment losses.

The core principle of AASB 15 is that revenue is recognised on a basis that reflects the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers at an amount that reflects the consideration the company expects to receive 
in exchange for those goods or services. 

Generally the timing of the payment for sale of goods and rendering of services corresponds closely to the 
timing of satisfaction of the performance obligations, however where there is a difference, it will result in the 
recognition of a receivable, contract asset or contract liability.

None of the revenue streams of the company have any significant financing terms as there is less than 12 
months between receipt of funds and satisfaction of performance obligations.

The committee receives assets from the government and other parties for nil or nominal consideration in 
order to further its objectives. These assets are recognised in accordance with the recognition requirements 
of other applicable accounting standards (for example AASB 9, AASB 16, AASB 116 and AASB 138.)

(i) Accounts Receivable and Other Debtors

(j) Revenue and Other Income

(g) Employee Provisions (continued)

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are 
incurred. 

Defined contribution superannuation expense
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Operating Grants, Donations & Bequests

Capital Grants

Interest Income

(j) Revenue and Other Income (continued)

When the committee receives grants, donations and bequests it assesses whether a contract exists and 
whether that contract is enforceable and has sufficiently specific performance obligations in accordance with 
AASB 15.

When the contract is not enforceable or does not have sufficient specific performance obligations, the grant 
or donation is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the 
statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities, which are recoverable from or payable to the ATO, are presented as operating cash 
flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

(k) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Government grants under the Australian Government JobKeeper wage subsidy program have been 
recognised as revenue when the committee became entitled to receive the grants, which was assessed to be 
the time at which the salary and wages payments for the eligible JobKeeper fortnight were made to eligible 
employees.

Government grants under the Australian Government cash flow boost initiative have been recognised as 
revenue when the committee became entitled to receive the grants, which was assessed to be the time at 
which the applicable Activity Statements were lodged with the Australian Taxation Office.

When the committee receives a capital grant, it recognises a liability for the excess of the initial carrying 
amount of the financial asset received over any related amounts (being contributions by owners, lease 
liability, financial instruments, provisions, revenue or contract liability arising from a contract with a customer) 
recognised under other Australian Accounting Standards.

The committee recognises income in profit or loss when or as the committee satisfies its obligations under 
the terms of the grant.

When these conditions are satisfied, the committee:
- identifies each performance obligation relating to the grant or donation
- recognises a contract liability for its obligation the contract; and
- recognises revenue as it satisfies its performance obligations
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Grant Income (Key Judgement)

Receivables (Key Estimate)

Impairment (Key Estimate)

Grants received by the committee have been accounted for under both AASB 15 and AASB 1058 depending 
on the terms and conditions and decisions made.

If this determination was changed then the revenue recognition pattern would be different from that 
recognised in these financial statements.

The receivables at reporting date have been reviewed to determine whether there is any objective evidence 
that any of the receivables are impaired. An impairment provision is included for any receivable where the 
entire balance is not considered collectible. The impairment provision is based on the best information at the 
reporting date.

The committee assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluation of conditions and 
events specific to the committee that may be indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable amounts of 
relevant assets are reassessed using value-in-use calculations which incorporate various key assumptions.

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year.

Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Inc. is dependent on the Winton Wetlands Restoration Funding 
provided by the State of Victoria under Winton Wetlands Restoration Funding Agreement, for all of its 
operations. At the date of this report, the Committee has no reason to believe the Winton Wetlands 
Restoration Funding Agreement will be terminated. 

The committee makes estimates and judgements during the preparation of these financial statements 
regarding assumptions about current and future events affecting transactions and balances.

These estimates and judgements are based on the best information available at the time of preparing the 
financial statements, however as additional information is known then the actual results may differ from the 
estimates.

(l) Comparative Figures

(m) Economic Dependence

(o) Critical Accounting Estimates & Judgements

The significant estimates and judgements made have been described below.

For many of the grant agreements received, the determination of whether the contract includes sufficiently 
specific performance obligations was a significant judgement involving discussions with a number of parties 
at the committee, review of the proposal documents prepared during the grant application phase and 
consideration of the terms and conditions.
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Employee Benefits (Key Judgement)

Lease Term and Option to Extend under AASB 16 (Key Judgement)

(p) New and Amended Accounting Policies Adopted by the Committee

(q) COVID-19 Impact on Operations

(o) Critical Accounting Estimates & Judgements (continued)

For the purpose of measurement, AASB 119: Employee Benefits defines obligations for short-term employee 
benefits as obligations expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting 
period in which the employees render the related service. As the committee expects that all of its employees 
would use all of their annual leave entitlements earned during a reporting period before 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period, the committee believes that obligations for annual leave entitlements satisfy the 
definition of short-term employee benefits and, therefore, can be measured at the (undiscounted) amounts 
expected to be paid to employees when the obligations are settled.

The lease term is defined as the non-cancellable period of a lease together with both periods covered by an 
option to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and also periods 
covered by an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that option. 
The options that are reasonably going to be exercised is a key management judgement that the committee 
will make. The committee determines the likeliness to exercise the options on a lease-by-lease basis looking 
at various factors such as which assets are strategic and which are key to future strategy of the committee.

The company has adopted all standards which became effective for the first time at 30 June 2021, the 
adoption of these standards has not caused any material adjustments to the reported financial position, 
performance or cash flow of the company.

The spread of COVID-19 has severely impacted many local economies around the globe. In many countries, 
businesses are being forced to cease or limit operations for long or indefinite periods of time. Measures 
taken to contain the spread of the virus, including travel bans, quarantines, social distancing and closure of 
non-essential services have triggered significant disruptions to businesses worldwide, resulting in an 
economic slowdown. Governments and central banks have responded with monetary interventions to 
stabilise economic conditions. 

The Committee of Management has determined that these events have not required any specific 
adjustments within the financial report. It is not possible to reliably estimate the duration and severity of these 
consequences, as well as any impact on the financial position and results of the association for future 
sustainability. 

18
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Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Note 2. Revenue From Operating Activities

2021 2020
$ $

Revenue From Contracts With Customers
- Grant income from trust funds (DELWP) 1,200,128 1,601,199
- Other capital grants - Indigenous Trail Project - 400,000
- Other grants 99,759 7,500
- Hub operations - sales 401,078 344,659
- Grazing licence / permit fees 51,528 42,451
- Rental income 5,970 -

1,758,463 2,395,809
Revenue From Other Sources
 - Grant income 1,600,000 -
 - Other income 345,213 142,293

8,070 31,731

 - Profit on disposal of assets 7,167 656
1,960,450 174,680

Note 3. Expenses

2021 2020
$ $

Employee Benefits Expense
 - Wages and salaries 1,013,175 939,478
 - Contributions to superannuation funds 83,093 92,316
 - Payroll tax 7,172 -

1,103,440 1,031,794

Depreciation and amortisation
 - Land and buildings 52,958 52,510
 - Infrastructure 80,539 73,833
 - Plant and equipment 43,993 45,403
 - Motor vehicles 23,791 25,277
 - Leased motor vehicle 5,366 8,675
 - Intangible assets 6,627 6,627

213,274 212,325

 - Interest (unrestricted) received (on financial assets not at fair value through 
profit or loss)

All revenue from contracts customers shown above was recognised at a point in time. There was no revenue 
from contracts with customers recognised over time during the financial year.  
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Note 4. Key Management Personnel Compensation

2021 2020
$ $

242,993 280,247

Key management personnel compensation 242,993 280,247

Note 5. Cash & Cash Equivalents

2021 2020
$ $

Cash at bank - unrestricted 2,128,806 972,104
Short-term investments - bank deposits - -

2,128,806 972,104

Note 6. Financial Assets

2021 2020
$ $

Australian Term Deposit > 3 months 836,741 1,432,810
836,741 1,432,810

Note 7. Accounts Receivable and Other Debtors

2021 2020
$ $

Current
Accounts receivable 4,579 36,939
GST Receivable 16,705 -

21,284 36,939

Note 8. Inventories

2021 2020
$ $

Merchandise on hand 14,976 15,041
14,976 15,041

Term deposits classified as financial assets include only those with a maturity period greater than three 
months. Where maturity periods are less than three months, these investments are recorded as cash and 
cash equivalents. 

The totals of remuneration paid to key management personnel (KMP) of the 
Committee during the year are as follows:
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Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Note 9. Other Current Assets

2021 2020
$ $

Accrued income 168 13,817
168 13,817

Note 10. Property, Plant & Equipment

(a) Carrying Amounts

At Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
Depreciation

Written Down 
Value

At Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
Depreciation

Written 
Down Value

2,618,500 - 2,618,500 2,618,500 - 2,618,500
1,382,531 (235,699) 1,146,832 1,382,536 (182,746) 1,199,790
2,637,865 (472,819) 2,165,046 2,632,640 (387,055) 2,245,585

356,439 (205,766) 150,673 328,078 (161,033) 167,045
86,454 (40,013) 46,441 134,544 (53,381) 81,163

2,139,327 - 2,139,327 2,020,177 - 2,020,177
9,221,116 (954,297) 8,266,819 9,116,475 (784,215) 8,332,260

(b) Movements in Carrying Amounts

Land
$

Buildings
$

Infrastructure
$

Plant & 
Equip

$

Motor 
Vehicles

$

Projects - 
WIP

$
2,618,500 1,199,790 2,245,585 167,045 81,163 2,020,177

- - - 45,509 - 119,150
- - - (17,888) (10,931) -
- - - - - -
- (52,958) (80,539) (43,993) (23,791) -

2,618,500 1,146,832 2,165,046 150,673 46,441 2,139,327

Land
$

Buildings
$

Infrastructure
$

Plant & 
Equip

$

Motor 
Vehicles

$

Projects - 
WIP

$
2,618,500 1,033,616 2,313,457 161,160 60,080 2,204,465

- 218,684 12,562 51,288 67,327 165,510
- - - - (30,476) -
- - - - - (349,798)
- (52,510) (80,434) (45,403) (15,768) -

2,618,500 1,199,790 2,245,585 167,045 81,163 2,020,177

Land
Buildings

Plant & equipment
Motor vehicles

2021

Opening carrying value
Additions
Disposals

Depreciation expense

Closing carrying value

2021 2020

Infrastructure

Projects - WIP

2020

Opening carrying value
Additions
Disposals

Depreciation expense

Closing carrying value

Transfers

Transfer
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Note 10. Property, Plant & Equipment (continued)

(c) Asset Revaluations

(d) Changes in Estimates

Note 11. Right-of-use Assets

Options to Extend or Terminate

The Association derecognises right‐of‐use assets at the termination of the lease period or when no future 
economic benefits are expected to be derived from the use of the underlying asset.

The Association's lease portfolio includes motor vehicles.

Right‐of‐use assets are measured at amounts equal to the present value of enforceable future payments on 
the adoption date, adjusted for lease incentives, make‐good provisions, and initial direct costs.

The option to extend or terminate are contained in the property lease of the Entity. All extension or
termination options are only exercisable by the Entity. The extension options or termination options which 
were probable to be exercised have been included in the calculation of the right-of-use asset.

Buildings are shown at Fair Value or at Cost as indicated. In August 2016, OPTEON Property Group 
completed independent valuations for financial reporting purposes, for Mokoan Hub & Café associated plant & 
equipment and infrastructure and two other projects. For simplicity in reporting purpose, the values of these 
reports are used in the financial statements as at 30 June 2016.

During the financial year, the committee assessed estimates used for property, plant and equipment including 
useful lives, residual values, and depreciation methods.

There were no changes in estimates for the current reporting period.

The Committee has assessed that as at 30 June 2021 there has been no material change in fair value of land 
or buildings since the 2016 valuation.

The Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning ('DELWP') now requires the respective 
Committee of Managements to report the fair value of the parcels of land they manage, in their respective 
financial statements. WWCoM has included the Fair Value of parcels of land it manages.
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Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Note 11. Right-of-use Assets (continued)

AASB 16 Amounts Recognised in the Statement of Financial Position

2021
$

2020
$

Leased 
motor 

vehicles

Leased motor 
vehicles

Leased asset 42,342 48,089
Accumulated Depreciation (5,365) (29,244)

36,977 18,845

Movements in carrying amounts:

Leased motor 
vehicles

$

Leased 
motor 

vehicles
$

- 48,089
- -
- -

42,342 -
(5,365) (29,244)
36,977 18,845

AASB 16 Amounts Recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive income

2021 2020
$ $

Depreciation expense related to right-of-use assets 24,210 -
Interest expense on lease liabilities 625 -

Note 12. Intangible Assets

2021 2020
$ $

Website - at cost 33,133 33,133
Accumulated amortisation (28,694) (22,068)

4,439 11,065

Depreciation expense
Net carrying amount

Recognised on initial application of AASB 16
- Previously classified as operating leases
- Transferred from property, plant & equipment
Additions
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Note 13. Lease Liability

2021 2020
$ $

Current
Lease liabilities 6,678 21,089

6,678 21,089

Non-Current
Lease liabilities 33,988 1,397

33,988 1,397

Note 14. Accounts Payable and Other Payables

2021 2020
$ $

Current
Accounts payable 5,060 26,977
Accrued salaries & wages 12,663 26,999
Accrued payroll tax 7,051 81,292
Accrued expenses - other 10,290 14,621
Balance of credit cards 6,963 5,527
Grazing permit in advance 15,208 18,241
GST Payable - 26,822
Superannuation payable 26,268 23,975
PAYG withheld 19,590 21,329
Salary Sacrifice Payable 10,360 -

113,453 245,783
Non-Current
Funds held in trust - 1,200,128

- 1,200,128

No collateral has been pledged for any of the accounts payable and other payable balances.
Collateral pledged
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Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Note 15. Employee Provisions

2021 2020
$ $

Current
Provision for annual leave 76,301 56,647
Provision for long service leave - -

76,301 56,647
Non-Current
Provision for long service leave - -

- -

Note 16. Reserves

(a) Asset revaluation reserve

(b) Analysis of each class of reserve

2021 2020
$ $

Valuation of buildings transferred from Goulburn Murray Water - valuation 2011 168,038 168,038
168,038 168,038

Note 17. Capital and Leasing Commitments

2021 2020
$ $

Capital Commitments 
Capital Commitments - 1,700,000

- 1,700,000

Note 18. Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

There were no contingent liabilities or assets at the date of this report to affect the financial statements.

Note 19. Events After The Reporting Period

Employee Attrition Rates

There have been no events after the end of the financial year that would materially affect the financial 

The revaluation reserve records the revaluations of non-current assets.

Provision for employee benefits represents amounts accrued for annual leave and long service leave.

The company uses historical employee attrition rates in determining the probability of an employee achieving 
continuous employment eligible for entitlement in accordance with long service leave legislation.
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Note 20. Responsible Persons and Related Disclosures

Responsible ministers
The Hon. Lily D'Ambrosio MP
Minister of Energy, Environment and Climate Change (23 May 2016 - 30 June 2021)

Committee members
Dr Dennis O'Brien - Chairperson (1 July 2014 - 30 June 2021)
Mr Rob Carolane - Deputy Chairperson ( 1 July 2014 - 30 June 2021)
Ms Suzy Martin (1 July 2014 - 30 June 2021)
Ms Sue Lebish (25 March 2015 - 31 July 2020)
Mr Don Firth (26 April 2018 - 30 June 2021)
Mr Dave Fuller (26 April 2018 - 30 June 2021)
Mr Dennis Patterson (26 April 2018 - 30 June 2021)
Ms Lindy Allen (26 April 2018 - 30 June 2021)
Mr Ross Davies (26 April 2018 - 30 June 2021)
Ms Suzanna Christison (26 April 2018 - 30 June 2021)

Accountable officer
Mr Daniel Basham - Chief Executive Officer (26 July 2018 - 2 July 2020)
Ms Sue Lebish - Chief Executive Officer (10 August 2020 - 30 June 2021) 

2021 2020

$0- $9-,999 5 6
$10,000 - $19,999 2 2

Total Remuneration 71,831 77,282

The remuneration of the Accountable Officer is as follows:

2021 2020

$20,000 - $29,999 1 -
$140,000 - $149,999 1 -
$200,000 - $209,999 - 1

2 1

In accordance with Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister of Finance under the Financial Management 
Act 1994 , the following disclosures were made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period. The 
names of the persons who were responsible persons at any time during the financial year were:

Remuneration of responsible persons
The remuneration received or due and receivable by the Responsible Persons in connection with the 
governance and management of the Committee's activities during the reporting period was:

Any person(s) having responsibility and authority for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
Committee, directly or indirectly, including the Committee Members, is considered Key Management 
Personnel.
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Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Note 20. Responsible Persons and Related Disclosures (continued)

2021 2020
$ $

Short term employee benefits 222,761 240,267
Post-employment benefits 20,232 39,980
Total 242,993 280,247

There were no executive officers other than those disclosed under Responsible Persons. 

Note 21. Financial Risk Management

2021 2020
$ $

Financial assets
- Cash and cash equivalents 2,128,806    972,104     
- Accounts receivable and other debtors 21,284         36,939       
- Financial Assets 836,741       1,432,810  

2,986,831    2,441,853  

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
- Accounts payable and other payables 113,453       113,736     
- Lease liabilities 40,666         22,486       

154,119       136,222     

No financial assets have been pledged as security for any financial liability.

No responsible person or their related parties received any remuneration or retirement benefits during the 
year.

The Committee’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money market instruments, 
investments in listed shares, accounts receivable and payable, and leases.

The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 9: Financial 
Instruments as detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows:

Other transactions of responsible persons and their related parties

Executive remuneration 

Employee costs and entitlements
Community members of the Committee are paid sitting fees in accordance with the current Victorian 
Department of Premier & Cabinet's Appointment and Remuneration Guidelines for Victorian Government 
Boards, Statutory Bodies and Advisory Committees. 

Key management personnel compensation
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Note 22. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities with net current year surplus

2021 2020
$ $

Profit/(loss) for the year 1,790,798 488,850
Non-cash flows
Depreciation and amortisation expense 213,273 212,325
Gain on disposals of assets (7,167) (565)

Changes in assets and liabilities 
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable 15,655 40,989
(Increase)/decrease in prepayment and other assets 13,649 97,347
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable (excluding capital creditors) (132,330) (104,766)
(Decrease)/increase in other liabilities - (1,601,199)
Increase/(decrease) in employee provisions 19,654 27,103
(Increase)/decrease in inventories on hand 65 38,897
(Increase)/decrease in input tax credits - (123,901)

1,913,597 (924,920)

Note 23. Prior period error

Note 24. Committee Details

Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Incorporated
652 Lake Mokoan Road
Chesney Vale VIC 3725

The principal place of business is:
Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Incorporated
652 Lake Mokoan Road
Chesney Vale VIC 3725

The trade and other payables balance at 30 June 2020 was overstated by $20,941, this is due to a journalling 
error at the end of last financial year. 

The registered office of the committee is:
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41A Breen Street 
Bendigo, Victoria 3550 

PO Box 448, Bendigo Victoria 3552 
 

Ph: (03) 4435 3550 
admin@rsdaudit.com.au 

www.rsdaudit.com.au  
 

 Richmond Sinnott & Delahunty, trading as RSD Audit 
ABN 60 616 244 309 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF WINTON WETLANDS COMMITTEE OF 
MANAGEMENT INCORPORATED 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Incorporated (RDR), which 
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the committee members’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of Winton Wetlands Committee of Management Incorporated is in 
accordance with the Crown Lands (Reserves) Act 1978, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the committee’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended; and 

(ii) that the financial records kept by the committee are such as to enable financial statements to be prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 
independent of the committee in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor’s Report Thereon 

The committee is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
committee’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s 
report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Committee for the Financial Report 

The committee is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Crown Lands (Reserves) Act 1978 and for 
such internal control as the committee determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives 
a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial report, the committee is responsible for assessing the ability of the committee to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the committee either intends to liquidate the committee or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

– Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or 
the override of internal control. 

– Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
committee’s internal control. 

– Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the committee. 

– Conclude on the appropriateness of the committee’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the committee’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the committee to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

– Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

RSD Audit  

 

 

Kathie Teasdale  
Partner 
Dated: 17 December 2021 
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7 Dr Dennis O’Brien, Chair, Committee of    
 Management (Photo: Sarah Craven)
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 Wetlands during 2020-21, between COVID-19 lockdown  
 periods 

21 An enthusiastic Winton Wetlands volunteer, one of many  
 enabling the important work of the reserve to carry on

22/23 The Art Tank created by internationally renowned   
 Australian artist Guido Van Helten, shown here against the  
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24 A common long-necked turtle
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